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I. INTRODUCTION 

Despite obtaining two reversals by the Court of 

Appeals of the trial court’s dismissal of his claims, 

petitioner Ted Spice has yet to have his day in court on his 

claims that respondents, the Estate of Doris Mathews and 

Donna and Mark Dubois, committed waste by allowing the 

parties’ jointly owned properties to fall into total disrepair. 

On remand, the trial court refused to require the Estate’s 

personal representative, Ms. Dubois, to appear and testify 

at trial because, although she was listed on every witness 

list filed in this case, she did not receive a formal notice to 

attend trial under CR 43(f)(1). 

The trial court then again dismissed Mr. Spice’s 

claims as a matter of law after he was forced to rest his case 

without questioning Ms. Dubois on key issues, such as 

when she learned of water leaks that rendered the parties’ 

property untenantable. The Court of Appeals affirmed, 

rejecting Mr. Spice’s arguments that he substantially 
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complied with CR 43(f)(1) and that the trial court erred in 

refusing to consider the factors from Burnet v. Spokane 

Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997) before 

precluding the examination of Ms. Dubois who—by the 

Estate’s own admission—was ready to testify.  

The Court of Appeals’ decision conflicts with this 

Court’s precedent, as well as its own, and raises issues of 

substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4). This 

Court should grant review, reverse the Court of Appeals, 

and remand for a trial at which Mr. Spice may fairly present 

his case. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals’ August 2, 2022, decision, is 

attached as Appendix A and cited as “Op. __.” The Court of 

Appeals amended its decision on October 18, 2022, to 

correct a scrivener’s error (App. B) and on November 7, 

2022, denied Mr. Spice’s timely motion for reconsideration 
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and publication, and a motion for reconsideration filed by 

respondents. (App. C-D) 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. CR 43(f)(1) and CR 30(b)(1) provide that a 

party seeking to examine an adverse party at trial need only 

provide “reasonable notice in writing” stating “the time and 

place for taking” their testimony. Did the Court of Appeals 

erroneously interpret CR 43(f)(1) as requiring notice that a 

party may be held in contempt if they do not testify at trial? 

2. A party substantially complies with a 

procedural notice requirement when they provide actual 

notice and the opposing party is not prejudiced. See, e.g., 

Continental Sports Corp. v. Dep’t of Lab. & Indus., 128 

Wn.2d 594, 910 P.2d 1284 (1996). Did the Court of Appeals 

err in holding that Mr. Spice did not substantially comply 

with CR 43(f)(1) even though he gave the Estate actual 

notice he intended to call Ms. Dubois as a witness and the 

Estate was not prejudiced by the alleged lack of notice, as 
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confirmed by its own statement Ms. Dubois was ready to 

testify? 

3. “[T]rial courts must consider the factors from 

Burnet . . . before excluding untimely disclosed evidence,” 

including witnesses. Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 368, 

¶ 24, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015).1 Did the Court of Appeals err 

in affirming the trial court’s refusal to require that the 

primary defendant testify at trial on the basis of an 

untimely CR 43(f)(1) notice without considering the 

Burnet factors? 

 
1 Those factors are 1) whether a lesser sanction would 

suffice, 2) whether the untimely disclosure was willful or 
deliberate, and 3) whether the untimely disclosure 
substantially prejudiced the opposing party. Burnet, 131 
Wn.2d at 494. 
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IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. The Court of Appeals twice reversed the 
dismissal of Mr. Spice’s waste claims against 
the Estate of Doris Mathews alleging it 
negligently maintained the parties’ jointly 
owned property. 

This dispute between Mr. Spice and the Estate of 

Doris Mathews, his deceased business partner, has a long 

history, generating four appellate decisions. See Spice v. 

Dubois, 192 Wn. App. 1054, 2016 WL 899914 (2016) 

(“Spice I”); Spice v. Estate of Mathews, 1 Wn. App.2d 1040, 

2017 WL 6337457 (2017) (“Spice II”); Spice v. Estate of 

Mathews, 10 Wn. App.2d 1043, 2019 WL 5172379 (2019) 

(“Spice III”); Spice v. Estate of Mathews, 23 Wn. App.2d 

1001, 2022 WL 3043207 (as amended October 18, 2022) 

(“Spice IV,” cited as “Op.”). 

Spice I arose from a 2012 jury trial awarding Mr. 

Spice a 25% interest and Ms. Mathews a 75% interest in a 

four-acre parcel in Puyallup, Washington. (Op. at *1) This 

parcel, referred to as “11003 58th St.,” contains two rental 
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properties—a triplex at 11003 58th Street Court East and a 

home at 11007 58th Street Court East. (Op. at *1)2 

After the 2012 trial, litigation continued in the 

probate of Ms. Mathews’ Estate.3 Although Mr. Spice had, 

since 2003, helped managed the triplex and 11007 home 

(RP 200), in March 2012 the probate court, at the Estate’s 

request, enjoined Mr. Spice from having any involvement 

in the properties’ management, which left him “entirely 

reliant on the Estate’s supervision of the properties.” Spice 

II, at *6. 

Both rental properties had tenants prior to March 

2012 (RP 298-99), but by the summer of 2013 they were 

vacant. (RP 231-32, 237-41) The last tenants were evicted 

 
2 11003 58th St. includes two other homes at 11004 

and 11011 58th Street Court East that were not the focus of 
the proceedings below. (Op. at *1)  

3 Except for his first lawsuit, Mr. Spice’s lawsuits 
against the Estate were consolidated into the probate 
action. (Op. at *2-3) 
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from the triplex in July 2013 after withholding rent 

because the Estate failed to repair a water leak. (RP 231-32, 

237-41) Ultimately, water damage at both properties, 

including a year’s worth of black mold growth at the triplex, 

rendered the properties untenantable. (RP 232-35; Ex. 

P102A; see also Ex. P87 (October 2013 email chain 

forwarding to Mark Dubois a contractor’s report that there 

“is so much damage and we can’t tell right now where the 

water damage is coming from”)) In addition to years of lost 

rent ($3,500/month), the damage reduced the properties’ 

equity by over $400,000. (RP 299, 327) 

Mr. Spice brought claims against the Estate alleging 

it negligently allowed waste to occur. (CP 409-28, 792-99) 

The probate court twice dismissed these claims on 

summary judgment. Division Two reversed both times. 

Spice II, at *6-7; Spice III, at *12. Spice III also reversed the 

dismissal of Mr. Spice’s claim alleging that the personal 

representative of the Estate, Ms. Mathews’ daughter 
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Donna Dubois, fraudulently transferred the jointly owned 

properties without his consent (or even knowledge) and in 

violation of an order restraining the transfer of the 

properties without court approval. Spice III, at *13.4 

B. On remand, the trial court again dismissed 
Mr. Spice’s waste claims as a matter of law 
after refusing to require that the Estate’s 
personal representative appear and testify at 
trial because she purportedly did not have 
notice she would be called as a witness. 

This fourth appeal arose following the trial ordered 

in Spice II and Spice III. On remand, the trial court limited 

Mr. Spice’s waste claims to two discrete allegations of 

waste: 1) a burst water pipe in the triplex and 2) Ms. 

Dubois’s failure to sign an insurance check issued after a 

 
4 The Court of Appeals affirmed the dismissal of other 

claims brought by Mr. Spice. See Spice II, at *1, 5; Spice III, 
at *1, 12, 14. 
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fire damaged one of the jointly owned properties. (CP 

4291-92; see also Spice II, at *2; Spice III, at *12)5  

Mr. Spice presented his case in a four-day bench trial 

beginning October 1, 2020, with some of the parties and 

witnesses appearing or testifying remotely pursuant to 

Covid-19 protocols. (See 10/01 RP 5; RP 4, 137, 293)6 Mr. 

Spice identified Ms. Dubois on his witness list (CP 4651) 

and, on October 2, asked the Estate to confirm her 

availability to testify on the second day of trial, October 5. 

(CP 5580)7 The Estate objected that “notice wasn’t given as 

 
5 The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Spice’s argument 

that the trial court violated the mandates of Spice II and 
Spice III in limiting the scope of his claims and excluding 
other elements of damage Mr. Spice sought in his 
complaints, including unpaid property taxes, insurance, 
and utilities, as well as fees relating to mortgage defaults. 
(See Op. at *6-7; see also App. Br. 20-25; Reply Br. 8-11)  

6 The pagination of the trial transcripts resets after 
the first day, October 1. The October 1 transcript is cited as 
“10/01 RP __”; other transcripts are cited as “RP __.” 

7 No trial proceedings were held on Friday October 2 
because Mr. Spice just had surgery. (RP 75) 
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require[d] by CR 43 and CR 30(b)(1),” but added “[s]he’ll 

likely be available after lunch” and thus Mr. Spice should 

“start with one of [his] other witnesses and then we can 

have her testify after lunch.” (CP 5580) 

In a subsequent email sent on the morning of 

October 5, the Estate told Mr. Spice that Ms. Dubois “is 

ready this morning.” (CP 5580) By that time, however, Mr. 

Spice had arranged for other witnesses to testify, as the 

Estate suggested. (RP 197) When Mr. Spice asked to call 

Ms. Dubois as a witness on October 6, the Estate’s counsel 

told Mr. Spice he would “inquire and see if she’s available.” 

(RP 164) When the Estate’s counsel was unable to reach 

her, Mr. Spice began his own testimony instead. (RP 195, 

198)  

At the end of the day on October 6, after Mr. Spice 

reiterated “we do intend to call Ms. Dubois,” the Estate 

objected, claiming she was unaware of the “date, time, and 

place to appear” because she was “never given notice for 
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her attendance at trial.” (RP 285) The trial court then ruled 

it would not require Ms. Dubois to appear as a witness 

either remotely or in-person because, although she was 

listed on both parties’ witness lists, Mr. Spice did not serve 

her with a notice to attend trial under CR 43(f)(1). (RP 365-

68; see also CP 1552, 1558, 4037, 4245, 4651, 4775)  

As a result, Mr. Spice was forced to rest his case 

without examining Ms. Dubois. In an offer of proof, Mr. 

Spice explained that, among other things, he would have 

examined Ms. Dubois “regarding her actions in managing 

the property, . . . the actions in . . . choosing not to repair 

the water damage, choosing not to put a tenancy into the 

two water-damaged apartments.” (RP 368-69)  

The trial court then granted the Estate’s motion to 

dismiss Mr. Spice’s claims, entering judgment as a matter 

of law under CR 41(b)(3) and CR 50. (RP 391-97, 424; CP 

5038-57) The trial court reasoned Mr. Spice failed to 

present any evidence why the property “wasn’t leased 
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again” or that Ms. Dubois “had the means to fix the 

property, having learned of the issue of the burst pipe and 

failed to do so,” and explained that if he had “I would find 

that the plaintiff has made out a case here.” (RP 424) 

C. The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding Mr. 
Spice did not substantially comply with CR 
43(f)(1) and that the factors from Burnet v. 
Spokane Ambulance do not apply to a ruling 
preventing the examination of a party based 
on a violation of CR 43(f)(1).  

The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding Mr. Spice did 

not substantially comply with CR 43(f)(1) and rejecting his 

argument that the trial court was required to address the 

Burnet factors prior to dismissal, holding “Burnet simply 

does not apply here.” (Op. at *8-9) The Court of Appeals 

held that a witness list cannot satisfy the notice 

requirements of CR 43(f)(1) because it “does not notify 

th[e] witness that if they fail to attend the hearing there is 

the danger of being held in contempt.” (Op. at *8) The 

Court of Appeals further held “there was no reason to 
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consider the Burnet factors” because “[t]he trial court was 

not considering whether to exclude DuBois, but rather was 

considering whether it had the authority to compel DuBois 

to testify using the threat of judgment or finding her in 

contempt.” (Op. at *9) 

V. REASONS THE COURT SHOULD ACCEPT 
REVIEW 

A. The Court of Appeals’ decision erroneously 
interpreted CR 43(f)(1) to require notice of 
the consequences of failing to appear and 
testify.  

The Court of Appeals’ decision is the only 

Washington case, published or unpublished, that 

addresses the necessary content of a notice to attend trial 

under CR 43(f)(1).8 CR 43 does not require notice that a 

 
8 As the Court of Appeals recently observed, “There is 

no relevant published case law regarding CR 43(f) notices 
to attend trial.” Williams v. Dep’t of Soc. & Health Servs., 
No. 56240-5-II, 2022 WL 14309083, at *5 (Oct. 25, 2022) 
(cited per GR 14.1). Williams addressed whether the trial 
court erred in quashing a notice to attend trial, 2022 WL 
14309083, at *5-6, not the required content of a notice to 
attend trial. 
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party may be held in contempt if they do not testify. Rather, 

it only requires written notice from one party to the other 

that they may be called as a witness at trial. The Court of 

Appeals’ misinterpretation of CR 43(f)(1) raises an issue of 

substantial public interest that should be reviewed by this 

Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

Under CR 43(f)(1), “[a] party . . . may be examined at 

the instance of any adverse party”; “[a]ttendance of such 

deponent or witness may be compelled solely by notice (in 

lieu of a subpoena) given in the manner prescribed in rule 

30(b)(1) to opposing counsel of record.” CR 30(b)(1) 

requires “reasonable notice in writing” stating “the time 

and place for taking” testimony and CR 43(f)(1) further 

states that “[n]otices for the attendance of a party . . . at the 

trial shall be given not less than 10 days before trial.”  

The Court of Appeals erred in refusing to interpret 

CR 43(f)(1) in accordance with its plain language. State v. 

Walker, 199 Wn.2d 796, 800, ¶ 8, 513 P.3d 111 (2022) (“We 
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interpret court rules in the same manner as statutes, 

beginning with the plain language of the rule.”). The plain 

language of CR 43(f)(1) contains no requirement that a 

party give the opposing party notice of the potential 

consequences of failing to attend trial, e.g., contempt, as 

the Court of Appeals held. (See Op. at *8) Incorporating CR 

30(b)(1), CR 43(f)(1) simply requires “reasonable notice in 

writing” stating “the time and place for taking” testimony, 

i.e., the trial. Moreover, CR 30(b)(1) provides that a failure 

to give the required notice “shall not constitute grounds for 

quashing the subpoena” underscoring that notice of 

potential consequences is not a prerequisite to examining 

an opposing party. (emphasis added) 

When this Court or the Legislature intends to 

mandate the inclusion of language explaining the 

consequences for non-compliance, they state so clearly and 

directly. See, e.g., CR 4(b)(1)(iii) (requiring “notice that, in 

case of failure [to file an answer], judgment will be 



 

 16 

rendered against the defendant by default”); RCW 

61.24.031(1)(c)(i) (deed of trust statute requiring an initial 

contact letter to a borrower in default to state “IF YOU DO 

NOT RESPOND within thirty days, a notice of default may 

be issued and you may lose your home in foreclosure.”). 

The Court of Appeals’ decision also overlooks the 

history and the purpose of CR 43(f). Under the previous 

version of the rule, nonresident defendants, particularly 

corporations, routinely argued they were beyond a 

Washington court’s subpoena power and thus could not be 

compelled to testify at trial. See Campbell v. A. H. Robins 

Co., 32 Wn. App. 98, 101, 645 P.2d 1138, rev. denied, 97 

Wn.2d 1037 (1982). CR 43(f) is intended to eliminate this 

argument by relying not on the subpoena power, but “on 

the power of the court over the parties to the action, and 

the expectation that a party faced with sanctions will 

exercise its own power over its managing agents.” 

Campbell, 32 Wn. App. at 107. CR 43(f) was thus intended 
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to make it easier, not harder, to call the opposing party as 

a witness.  

As the only case addressing the required content of a 

notice to attend trial, the Court of Appeals’ decision, if left 

unreviewed, will have potentially sweeping impact and 

misguide parties and their counsel preparing for trials in 

Washington courts. The Court of Appeals’ erroneous 

interpretation of CR 43(f) raises an issue of substantial 

public interest warranting review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).  

B. The Court of Appeals’ refusal to find 
substantial compliance with CR 43(f) 
conflicts with Washington precedent and 
raises an issue of substantial public interest.  

Mr. Spice substantially complied with CR 43 because 

he undisputedly gave the Estate actual notice that he 

intended to call Ms. Dubois as a witness and the Estate was 

not prejudiced by the alleged lack of notice, as confirmed 

by its own statement Ms. Dubois was “ready” to testify on 

the second day of trial. The Court of Appeals’ refusal to find 
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substantial compliance conflicts with Washington 

precedent and raises an issue of substantial public interest. 

RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4). 

This Court defines substantial compliance “as actual 

compliance in respect to the substance essential to every 

reasonable objective of” a statute or rule. Crosby v. Cnty. 

of Spokane, 137 Wn.2d 296, 301, 971 P.2d 32 (1999) 

(quoting Cont’l Sports Corp. v. Dep’t of Lab. & Indus., 128 

Wn.2d 594, 602, 910 P.2d 1284 (1996)). The doctrine of 

substantial compliance recognizes that “the purpose of the 

civil rules is to place substance over form to the end that 

cases be resolved on the merits.” Crosby, 137 Wn.2d at 303; 

see also Application of Santore, 28 Wn. App. 319, 328-29, 

623 P.2d 702 (1981) (courts should not construe 

compliance in a manner that “leads to a sacrifice of 

substance to form”; quoting Whitney v. Knowlton, 33 

Wash. 319, 322-23, 74 P. 469 (1903). 
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Where the intent of a procedural requirement is to 

provide notice, courts determine whether substantial 

compliance exists by asking whether (1) actual notice was 

provided or (2) notice was attempted in a manner 

reasonably calculated to give notice. Wilson v. Olivetti N. 

Am., Inc., 85 Wn. App. 804, 810, 934 P.2d 1231 (citing In 

re Saltis, 94 Wn.2d 889, 896, 621 P.2d 716 (1980)), rev. 

denied, 133 Wn.2d 1017 (1997). Courts also consider 

whether an opposing party has been prejudiced in 

evaluating substantial compliance. Wilson, 85 Wn. App. at 

810.  

For example, in Continental Sports, this Court held 

that sending a notice of appeal via Federal Express 

substantially complied with the requirement in RCW 

51.48.131 to send the notice of appeal “by mail” because the 

respondent “was in as good a position as it would have been 

had the notice of appeal been sent” via the United States 

Postal Service. 128 Wn.2d at 604. Similarly, in Wilson, 
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Division Three held the plaintiff substantially complied 

with the requirements for demanding a jury under CR 38 

and the local rules despite failing to serve the demand on 

the defendant. 85 Wn. App. at 810. Division Three 

reasoned that the defendant “was not prejudiced 

significantly by the violation because it had actual 

knowledge of the jury trial demand” and that defendant’s 

“insistence on strict compliance . . . exalts form over 

substance.” 85 Wn. App. 810; see also Williamson, Inc. v. 

Calibre Homes, Inc., 147 Wn.2d 394, 403, 54 P.3d 1186 

(2002) (“[Defendant] does not, and cannot, argue it was 

prejudiced”; holding corporation substantially complied 

with real estate brokers and salespersons act, chapter 18.85 

RCW); Santore, 28 Wn. App. at 329 (“the failure to file the 

sworn statement in a timely manner resulted in no 

prejudice”; holding adopting parents substantially 

complied with adoption statutes). 
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Here, Mr. Spice substantially complied with CR 

43(f)(1) because he undisputedly provided the Estate 

actual notice that he intended to call Ms. Dubois as a 

witness. Mr. Spice filed his first witness list in 2015 and it—

as well as every subsequent list he filed—included Ms. 

Dubois as a witness. (CP 1552, 4651, 4776) The Estate thus 

knew for years that Mr. Spice intended to examine Ms. 

Dubois at trial.9 In addition to his witness lists, in his third 

amended complaint—filed weeks before trial—Mr. Spice 

informed the Estate that “Donna DuBois . . . is a necessary 

and indispensable party to this action and no trial or other 

matters can proceed in her absence.” (CP 4628 (emphasis 

added)) 

Indeed, the Estate has never disputed it knew Mr. 

Spice intended to examine Ms. Dubois. And the record 

 
9 Local rules commonly require parties to exchange 

witness lists as the means of disclosing witnesses. See, e.g., 
Jones v. City of Seattle, 179 Wn.2d 322, 314 P.3d 380 
(2013); PCLR 16(b)(2). 
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flatly refutes the Estate’s contention that it was somehow 

unaware of the “date, time, and place to appear.” (RP 285) 

Indeed, the Estate itself emphasized that the parties were 

“aware of the trial date for quite some time, so there’s no 

surprise there” (RP 286-87), and the Estate was obviously 

aware of the location of the courthouse where it was in trial. 

Moreover, Ms. Dubois was free to testify from anywhere 

under the trial court’s remote Covid-19 protocols, as the 

Estate acknowledged. (See RP 164-65) 

The Estate has also never identified any prejudice it 

suffered because of a purported lack of notice. Nor could 

it—the Estate confirmed Ms. Dubois was “ready” to testify 

and offered to have her do so on the second day of trial 

before retracting the offer. (CP 5580; see also RP 164 

(Estate’s offer on third day of trial to “inquire and see if 

she’s available”)) Rather than binding the Estate to its 
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agreement to have Ms. Dubois testify, see CR 2A,10 the trial 

court accepted the Estate’s argument that Ms. Dubois was 

somehow ignorant of the trial schedule and courthouse 

location. 

The lack of prejudice is underscored by the fact that 

the Estate, like Mr. Spice, listed Ms. Dubois on its witness 

lists. (CP 1558, 4037, 4245) The Estate thus could not have 

been “surprised” she would testify, as it argued in the Court 

of Appeals. (Resp. Br. 35) Indeed, under Federal Rule of 

Civil Procedure 37, “the failure to list as a trial witness a 

person so listed by another party” is an exception to the 

rule’s automatic exclusion of undisclosed witnesses 

because such failures are, by definition, harmless. Judicial 

Conference of the United States Advisory Committee 

Notes, 146 F.R.D. 401, 691 (1993); Richard Marcus, 8A 

 
10 CR 2A provides that a court will enforce an 

agreement between attorneys where it is “in writing and 
subscribed by the attorneys denying the same.”  
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Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 2054 (3d ed. April 2022 Update) 

(“If a party lists a witness, it is not required to produce that 

witness at trial. But should another party call that witness 

at trial even though it did not list the witness, the listing 

party may not object on the ground the witness was not 

listed by the party calling him or her.”).11 

The Court of Appeals’ holding that Mr. Spice did not 

substantially comply with CR 43 despite providing the 

Estate actual notice and the lack of any prejudice places 

form over substance in conflict with Washington 

precedent. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). The Court of Appeals’ 

stilted application of the substantial compliance doctrine 

also promotes gamesmanship, allowing parties to avoid 

examination through a last-minute objection even where, 

 
11 Washington courts routinely rely on federal 

authority when interpreting analogous Washington rules, 
including CR 43. See, e.g., Marriage of Swaka, 179 Wn. 
App. 549, 553-56, ¶¶ 7-14, 319 P.3d 69 (2014) (relying on 
federal cases to interpret CR 43(a)(1)). 
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as here, they were undisputedly aware that the opposing 

party intended to call them as a witness, and they were 

ready and able to testify. RAP 13.4(b)(4).  

C. The Court of Appeals erroneously refused to 
apply Burnet to an order preventing the 
examination of a party based on a lack of 
notice.  

The core holding of Burnet and its progeny is that a 

violation of procedural rules governing the timely 

disclosure of evidence, including trial witnesses, should not 

result in the evisceration of a party’s case unless there is 

substantial prejudice to the other party, the violation was 

willful, and there is no alternative sanction that would 

suffice. The Court of Appeals’ holding that “Burnet simply 

does not apply” to a ruling that prevented Mr. Spice from 

examining Ms. Dubois—the most critical witness other 

than himself—based a purported lack of notice under CR 

43(f)(1) conflicts with this holding and raises an issue of 

substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4). 
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Both this Court and the Court of Appeals have 

repeatedly affirmed that Washington “precedent 

establishes that trial courts must consider the factors from 

Burnet . . . before excluding untimely disclosed evidence,” 

including witnesses. Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 368, 

¶ 24, 357 P.3d 1080 (2015); Jones v. City of Seattle, 179 

Wn.2d 322, 344, ¶ 47, 314 P.3d 380 (2013) (“Trial courts 

have been required to perform the Burnet analysis before 

excluding witnesses for late disclosure since at least 

2006”); Blair v. Ta-Seattle E. No. 176, 171 Wn.2d 342, 351, 

¶ 21, 254 P.3d 797 (2011) (trial court “abused its discretion 

when it imposed the sanction of witness exclusion” without 

considering Burnet); ADA Motors, Inc. v. Butler, 7 Wn. 

App.2d 53, 56, ¶ 1, 432 P.3d 445 (2018) (remanding for new 

trial “[b]ecause the trial court excluded four witnesses 

without considering the Burnet factors”), rev. denied, 193 

Wn.2d 1013 (2019); Dependency of M.P., 185 Wn. App. 

108, 115-16, ¶ 13, 340 P.3d 908 (2014) (rejecting the 
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argument “that the exclusion of testimony is not . . . subject 

to Burnet”). 

The Burnet factors are founded on the fundamental 

principle that “‘[t]he law favors resolution of cases on their 

merits.’” Burnet, 131 Wn.2d at 498 (quoting Lane v. Brown 

& Haley, 81 Wn. App. 102, 106, 912 P.2d 1040; see also CR 

1 (requiring that the Civil Rules “be construed and 

administered to secure the just, speedy, and inexpensive 

determination of every action”), rev. denied, 129 Wn.2d 

1028 (1996). Burnet thus creates a presumption “that late-

disclosed testimony will be admitted absent a willful 

violation, substantial prejudice to the nonviolating party, 

and the insufficiency of sanctions less drastic than 

exclusion.” Jones, 179 Wn.2d at 343, ¶ 46.  

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with Burnet 

and its progeny. The Court of Appeals reasoned that Burnet 

did not apply because “[t]he trial court was not considering 
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whether to exclude DuBois.” (Op. at *9) But that is 

precisely what the trial court did.  

As the trial court repeatedly made clear, but for the 

purported lack of notice under CR 43(f)(1), it would have 

required Ms. Dubois to appear and testify at trial. (See RP 

196-97 (“she didn’t know about this”), 285-86 (“She didn't 

receive the notice”), 367-68 (Mr. Spice did not “give[] her 

notice”)) The trial court’s ruling thus prevented Mr. Spice 

from presenting testimony—in other words excluded it—

based on a purported lack of notice a particular witness 

would testify, just like the orders in the cases cited above. 

See, e.g., Blair, 171 Wn.2d at 346-47; Jones, 179 Wn.2d at 

335-36, ¶ 25; Dependency of M.P., 185 Wn. App. at 113-14, 

¶ 8.12  

 
12 As discussed in Mr. Spice’s briefs, the Burnet 

factors, had they been considered, would have weighed 
heavily in favor of allowing Mr. Spice to examine Ms. 
Dubois, most notably because the Estate was not 
prejudiced by the purported lack of notice. (See App. Br. 
34-37; Reply Br. 31-32) 
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It defies logic to apply Burnet when a party’s failure 

to provide notice it intends to call a witness violates a local 

rule or discovery order, but not when it violates CR 

43(f)(1). The parties are often the most important 

witnesses at trial and, if anything, a higher—not lower—bar 

should apply to justify their exclusion. As this Court has 

stressed, a court’s “overriding responsibility is to interpret 

the rules in a way that advances the underlying purpose of 

the rules, which is to reach a just determination in every 

action.” Keck, 184 Wn.2d at 369, ¶ 25 (quoting Burnet, 131 

Wn.2d at 498 (citing CR 1)). CR 43 is just as much a part of 

the Civil Rules as any other rule. 

Indeed, although Burnet originally applied only to 

discovery sanctions under CR 37(b), this Court expanded 

its application in Keck because its “analysis is equally 

appropriate when the trial court excludes untimely 

evidence submitted in response to a summary judgment 

motion.” 184 Wn.2d at 369, ¶ 25. This Court explained that 
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the Burnet factors apply to any “decision to exclude 

evidence that would affect a party’s ability to present its 

case.” Keck, 184 Wn.2d at 368, ¶ 24 (emphasis added).  

Here, the trial court’s refusal to allow Mr. Spice to 

question Ms. Dubois fatally affected his ability to present 

his case. The trial court dismissed Mr. Spice’s waste claims 

because he did not present evidence of why the jointly 

owned property “wasn’t leased again” and whether Ms. 

Dubois “had the means to fix the property, having learned 

of the issue of the burst pipe and failed to do so.” (RP 424) 

This is exactly the testimony Mr. Spice sought to elicit from 

Ms. Dubois. (RP 368-69 (Mr. Spice’s offer of proof stating 

Ms. Dubois would be asked about “her actions in managing 

the property, . . . choosing not to repair the water damage, 

choosing not to put a tenancy into the two water-damaged 

apartments”)) The trial court left no doubt about the 

importance of this evidence, stating “I would find that the 
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plaintiff has made out a case” had it been presented. (RP 

424)  

D. This Court should award Mr. Spice attorney 
fees under RCW 11.96A.150. 

Pursuant to RAP 18.1(b), Mr. Spice renews his 

request for an award of attorney’s fees under RCW 

11.96A.150. (See App. Br 53; Reply Br. 43-44) 

VI. CONCLUSION 

This Court should accept review, reverse the Court of 

Appeals, and remand for a new trial. 

I certify that this petition is in 14-point Georgia font 

and contains 4,994 words, in compliance with the Rules of 

Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.17(b). 

Dated this 5th day of December, 2022. 

 SMITH GOODFRIEND, 
P.S. 
 
By: /s/ Ian C. Cairns__ 
      Ian C. Cairns 

WSBA No. 43210 
Attorneys for Petitioner  
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representative to testify or otherwise refusing to sanction her or the Estate.  Finally, Spice argues 

that the trial court erred by awarding attorney fees. 

First, we conclude that the trial court did err by confining Spice’s claims.  Additionally, we 

decline to consider whether the trial court erred by striking Spice’s jury demand.  Furthermore, we 

hold that the court did not err by denying Spice’s motion to continue or by concluding that Spice 

failed to provide requisite notice to the personal representative to secure her testimony for trial.  

Finally, we agree that the court erred when it awarded the Estate the precise attorney fee amount 

that the Estate requested without placing its reasoning on the record; it is not apparent that the 

court exercised its judgment in awarding fees as it did.  Accordingly, we affirm in part, reverse in 

part, and remand for reconsideration of attorney fees.   

FACTS 

I. PREVIOUS LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

A. Property Ownership

Doris E. Mathews passed away in 2009.  Mathews’s daughter, Donna DuBois, was her 

personal representative; probate began in 2010.  Spice brought numerous claims against the Estate 

and claimed ownership of multiple real properties within Mathews’s estate.  Spice’s claims 

ultimately went to trial, and the jury split ownership of multiple real properties between Spice and 

the Estate.   

The jury awarded Spice a 25 percent interest in: 

• 11003 58th Street Court East Puyallup, Washington

• 11004 58th Street Court East Puyallup, Washington

• 11007 58th Street Court East Puyallup, Washington

• 11011 58th Street Court East Puyallup, Washington
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The Estate owns the remaining 75 percent of these properties.1  Both Spice and DuBois have used 

“11003 58th St.” when referring to all four properties.  Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 716. 

Following the verdict on Spice’s claims, the probate proceedings continued.  At some time 

later, Spice also gained a 33 percent interest in another Estate property, 11305 58th Street Court 

East, Puyallup, Washington.   

B. Appeal—Spice II (2017)2

1. Proceedings Below

In 2014, while the probate proceeding was ongoing, Spice brought a separate suit against 

the Estate in which he asserted a waste claim.  Spice alleged “gross mismanagement and dishonest 

and wasteful use of these properties” by the Estate.  CP at 794.  Spice went on to allege the Estate’s 

“willful or negligent and destructive maintenance of, or failure to maintain, these properties . . . 

has directly and proximately caused [Spice] to lose value and equity . . . in the . . . building at 

11003 58th St. Ct. E.” and “[a]mong other things, structural damage was caused to the [building] 

when [the Estate] failed to repair, or even shut off water to, a minor water supply line.”  CP at 795. 

Spice went on to detail the specific damage to the building from the water damage.  Spice also 

alleged the Estate’s negligence “also resulted in similar damage to the two-bedroom house at 

11305 58th St. Ct. E.”  CP at 795.  “[The Estate] failed to repair or cut off the water supply to a 

water heater supply line,” and Spice again detailed the resulting water damage to the building.  CP 

at 795-96.  Spice then averred a cause of action for waste and that the Estate’s “acts and omissions 

1 Spice appealed, and we affirmed; that opinion is referred to as Spice I (2016).  Spice v. Dubois, 

No. 44101-2-II (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 1, 2016) (unpublished), http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/. 

2 Spice v. Estate of Mathews, No. 48458-7-II (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 12, 2017) (unpublished), 

http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/. 
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as set forth above constitute wrongful, unlawful and ongoing waste, and have resulted in damage 

to [Spice’s] property interest as set forth above.”  CP at 798. 

This suit was consolidated into the probate proceeding.  The Estate moved for summary 

judgment on all of Spice’s claims.  The court granted summary judgment, reasoning that in regards 

to the waste claim there was no evidence the Estate was involved in management when the waste 

occurred and that the Estate did not owe Spice a fiduciary duty.   

2. Proceedings on Appeal—Spice II (2017)

Spice appealed and argued “that the trial court erred by granting the Estate summary 

judgment dismissing his claims for (1) contribution for property taxes paid on co-owned property 

and (2) breach of fiduciary duty arising from the Estate’s (a) misappropriation of funds, (b) failure 

to contribute to the LLC, and (c) waste.”  Spice v. Estate of Mathews, No. 48458-7-II, slip op. at 1 

(Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 12, 2017) (unpublished), http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/. 

When reviewing the facts of the case, we noted that Spice had amended his complaint 

following a pipe bursting at 11003 58th Street Court East and that he added the claims “(3) breach 

of fiduciary duty by misappropriating funds from co-owned properties, and (4) breach of fiduciary 

duty by committing waste with regard to co-owned properties.”  Id., slip op. at 4.  Additionally, 

we recognized that although Spice had included an independent waste claim in his amended 

complaint, on appeal he only argued that the Estate breached its fiduciary duty by committing 

waste.  Id., slip op. at 4 n.2. 

We concluded that because Spice had not demonstrated issues of material fact regarding 

his claims for contribution for property taxes paid on co-owned properties or for breach of 

fiduciary duty regarding the misappropriation of funds, those issues were properly dismissed on 

summary judgment.  Id., slip op. at 11-12.  However, we also concluded that Spice and the Estate 
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were in a quasi-fiduciary relationship and there was a genuine issue of fact regarding the allegation 

that “the Estate breached its quasi-fiduciary duty to Spice by allowing waste to occur at co-owned 

properties.”  Id., slip op. at 1-2.  Accordingly, “we reverse[d] the grant of summary judgment on 

the issue of breach of fiduciary duty by allowing waste.”  Id., slip op. at 18.  And aside from the 

trial court’s award of attorney fees we “affirm[ed] the remainder of the trial court’s summary 

judgment order and remand[ed] for additional proceedings.”  Id.  

C. Appeal—Spice III (2019)3

1. Proceedings Below

While the previous case was pending on appeal, Spice filed another lawsuit against the 

Estate in which, among other claims in his amended complaint, Spice asserted claims for waste 

and fraudulent transfers.  For the waste claim, Spice alleged that the Estate failed “to repair 

deficiencies with the structural integrity of the properties and . . . maintain the properties.”  CP at 

419. Spice later repeated this allegation: “By failing to repair, remodel, or otherwise rehabilitate

the properties, [the Estate] committed waste causing a decrease in rental value of the properties.” 

CP at 425. 

This case was also consolidated into the probate. 

The Estate moved to dismiss the case, arguing, among other things, that Spice’s waste 

claim was barred by res judicata.  The court granted the Estate’s motion, and Spice appealed.  

2. Proceedings on Appeal—Spice III (2019)

In Spice III, we noted Spice’s claim for breach of fiduciary duty—waste, from Spice II 

concerned “water leakage and resulting mold or rot in multiple properties.”  Spice v. Estate of 

3 Spice v. Estate of Mathews, No. 50915-6-II (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 15, 2019) (unpublished), 

http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/. 
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Mathews, No. 50915-6-II, slip op. at 4 (Wash. Ct. App. Oct. 15, 2019) (unpublished), 

http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/.  In contrast to Spice’s water leakage claim in Spice II, Spice’s 

claim for waste in Spice III was for the “failure to repair deficiencies with the structural integrity 

of the properties.”  Id., slip op. at 10.  Furthermore, we noted in response to the Estate’s motion 

that Spice had included a variety of documents and reports, one of which discussed an insurance 

check from August 2017 and that DuBois’s failure to sign the check resulted in funds not being 

available to make the units rentable.  Id. 

We concluded res judicata did not bar Spice’s waste claim because “Spice alleged 

continuing waste regarding property deficiencies and cited a specific incident to support his waste 

claim from August 2017.”  Id., slip op. at 18.  Furthermore, we explained that summary judgment 

on Spice’s waste claim was not proper because he had submitted evidence that DuBois had failed 

to sign an insurance check and that failure prevented funds from being available to repair rental 

units.  Id., slip op. at 25-26.  

We concluded that there were questions of material fact regarding Spice’s waste and 

fraudulent transfer claims and remanded those two claims for further proceedings.  Id., slip op. at 

33. We also reversed and remanded the award of attorney fees for the trial court to reconsider.  Id.

We filed our opinion on October 15, 2019, and the mandate was issued on November 26, 2019. 

II. PRESENT CASE—SPICE IV

A. Pretrial Proceedings

1. Order Setting the Issues

In March 2020, the Estate moved to confirm the issues for trial.  The court issued the 

following order delineating the issues for trial: 
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1. Whether or not the Estate caused waste in the form of water damage from

the pipe burst at the 11003 Property, which pipe burst occurred prior to April 3, 

2014; and, what, if any, damages were incurred. 

2. Whether or not the Estate breached a quasi-fiduciary duty to Mr. Spice if

the Estate is found in the issue above to have committed waste related to any 

damages on the 11003 Property related to the water damage from the pipe burs[t], 

which damage occurred prior to April 3, 2014; and what, if any, damages were 

incurred. 

3. Whether or not the Estate caused waste relative [to] not signing a fire-

damage insurance check in August 2017; and what, if any, damages were incurred. 

CP at 4292.  

On the eve of trial, Spice filed motions to recall the mandate in both of his previous appeals, 

arguing that the trial court failed to follow this court’s mandates when it limited his waste claims 

to two distinct issues; we denied both motions. 

2. Spice’s Multiple Attorneys and Motions for Continuances

Also in March 2020, the trial court set trial for July.  In April, Spice’s attorney, Jonathan 

Baner, filed a notice of intent to withdraw.  Baner explained he could not represent Spice at trial 

because he and Spice disagreed about how to proceed at trial.  Baner explained that “[Spice] needs 

to have an attorney that is going to proceed to do everything that he wants to be done, and it’s not 

really me.”  Report of Proceedings (RP) (Apr. 10, 2020) at 4.  Baner did not want to discuss the 

disagreement and instead stated, “Maybe I can just say that [Spice] wants an attorney other than 

me to proceed with the trial.”  RP at 8. 

Approximately two weeks after Baner filed his notice of withdrawal, Matthew Cunanan 

filed a notice of appearance.  As proceedings progressed, Cunanan indicated that he was a solo 

practitioner, was caring for his father, was out of the country all of July, attending multiple 

reunions in August, and getting married in September.  Despite this unavailability, on July 19, 

Cunanan reassured the court that he is “not going to go away from this case” and that he could do 
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the trial if it was moved to September.  RP (Jun. 19, 2020) at 8.  The court rescheduled the trial to 

September 30 and extended the discovery deadline.  Spice also brought on another attorney, 

Jeremiah Styles.  On July 21, Cunanan filed a notice of withdrawal. 

3. Jury Demand

Spice filed a jury demand, which the Estate moved to strike; Spice objected.  In his 

response, Spice highlighted that he had filed a motion for leave to amend his complaint.  Spice 

contended that “the issues and claims raised by the [Estate] . . . do not end at those ‘equitable 

issues.’ . . .  [Spice] has raised nearly five additional legal claims” in the proposed amended 

complaint.  CP at 5919-20.  Spice proceeded to discuss the factors that courts consider to determine 

if a case with legal and equitable claims is primarily equitable in nature or an action at law.  Spice 

concluded that the legal issues raised in the proposed complaint “are not incidental to the equitable 

issues in the Complaint.”  CP at 5921. 

The court denied Spice’s motion to amend and struck Spice’s jury demand, explaining the 

remaining claims were equitable in nature and that Spice was also seeking equitable relief in his 

complaint.  The court noted, “The parties agree in the pleadings submitted as part of the [m]otion 

that the issues of waste, fraudulent transfer, and breach of quasi-fiduciary duty in causing waste 

are equitable in nature.”  CP at 5116. 

B. Trial

1. Motion for a Continuance

Even though trial was supposed to start September 30, 2020, unrelated proceedings ran 

long pushing the trial to the next day.  On the first day of trial, Styles attempted to withdraw for 

“various reasons.”  RP (Oct. 1, 2020) at 18.  Styles explained that he did not feel prepared for trial, 

noting this was not his practice area and the scope of representation in this case had changed since 
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being hired.  Originally, Styles believed he would only be helping Spice’s previous attorney, 

Cunanan.   

Spice explained he had a “chain reaction of lawyer problems.”  RP (Oct. 1, 2020) at 30. 

Spice claimed that Baner withdrew because Baner wanted to reduce his caseload to spend more 

time with his children during the pandemic.  And Cunanan withdrew because, according to Spice, 

the matter was “beyond” Cunanan and that Cunanan was no longer available as he had over-

committed.  RP (Oct. 1, 2020) at 23.  Spice noted that Cunanan had also been representing Spice 

in at least four other cases in addition to this case.   

Spice also noted that “[a]nother case cropped up,” and that Cunanan could not represent 

Spice at this trial because Cunanan was “on that other . . . case now.”  RP (Oct. 1, 2020) at 41. 

Spice claimed that if he could get a continuance, then he could rehire previous attorneys.   

The Estate opposed the continuance, arguing that the ongoing suit was “detrimental to the 

Estate.  It’s detrimental to our ability to close out a probate.  It’s detrimental to close out a 

bankruptcy matter.”  RP (Oct. 1, 2020) at 43. 

The trial court explained its reluctance to grant a continuance because “it prevents anybody 

from doing anything to move forward with their property and their lives because this keeps going 

on.”  RP (Oct. 1, 2020) at 32.  “[B]eing in a lawsuit is a very bad place” and it was in “everybody’s 

interest to resolve a case that’s ten years old.”  RP (Oct. 1, 2020) at 32, 45.  Furthermore, the court 

noted that the Estate had prepared for the trial, and its attorney had already spent most of the day 

in trial, all of which would need to be duplicated if a continuance was granted.   

Additionally, the court explained that it had made clear months earlier that it wanted the 

case to keep moving and take no longer than was absolutely necessary.  The court expressed doubts 

regarding Spice’s assertion that he could rehire a former attorney and about how long it would take 
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to get the new attorney up to speed.  Such a continuance would set the case back, “starting almost 

at square one after a year of screwing around with this.”  RP (Oct. 1, 2020) at 46.  The court stated 

the only continuance it would grant was until Monday morning, which Spice declined.  The court 

also denied Styles’s motion to withdraw.   

2. Compelling DuBois to Testify

On October 2, Styles e-mailed the Estate to inform it that he planned to call DuBois to 

testify on the morning of October 5.  The Estate responded that DuBois was not available on 

October 5 due to a medical appointment and that Spice had failed to provide noticed as required 

by CR 43 and CR 30(b)(1).  The Estate, however, conveyed that DuBois would “likely be available 

after lunch” and that “we can have her testify after lunch assuming she is done with the 

appointment and physically able.”  CP at 5580.  Even so, Spice did not call DuBois on that date. 

On the morning of October 6, Spice asked if DuBois was “available to testify at this time.”  

RP (Oct. 6, 2020) at 164.  DuBois was not present at trial, and the Estate said it may be able to 

contact her, but she had medical issues, which made her mornings “pretty difficult.”  RP (Oct. 6, 

2020) at 164.  Ultimately, the Estate was unable to reach DuBois.   

The court noted that DuBois was unavailable and asked Spice if he had given her notice to 

attend trial.  Spice replied that she was on the witness list for both parties.  The court explained a 

witness list is not enough; Spice had to subpoena her or demand attendance at trial.  But Spice 

gave no indication he had done either.  

The court explained, “I can’t compel her to attend trial. . . .  She didn’t receive the notice 

to attend trial nor was she subpoenaed.”  RP (Oct. 6, 2020) at 196, 286.  The court told Spice, “If 

. . . I’m wrong about that, then I’m perfectly willing to help,” but “you’re going to have to find 

some legal basis for me to compel her to be here.”  RP (Oct. 6, 2020) at 2887.  
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3. Trial Court’s Ruling

After Spice rested, the Estate moved to dismiss.  The court dismissed Spice’s case pursuant 

to CR 41(b)(3) and CR 50.  

C. Post-Trial Proceedings

The Estate moved for attorney fees.  The court granted the fees that were requested, 

explaining attorney fees and costs were authorized by statute and court rule.  Spice appeals.  

ANALYSIS4 

I. SCOPE OF REMAND

Spice argues that the trial court misinterpreted this court’s opinions from his two previous

appeals, and that this misinterpretation resulted in the trial court improperly limiting the scope of 

his case.  The Estate argues that we should affirm because we already considered this issue when 

Spice moved to recall the mandates, and the trial court properly interpreted our previous opinions. 

We conclude the trial court did not err. 

A. Legal Principles

A trial court’s interpretation of an appellate court’s ruling is a legal determination that we 

review de novo.  Barr v. Snohomish County Sheriff, 193 Wn.2d 330, 335, 440 P.3d 131 (2019) 

(“We review questions of law de novo.”).  But the language “we remand for further proceedings” 

signals our expectation that “the trial court will exercise its discretion to decide any issue necessary 

to resolve the case.”  In re Marriage of Rockwell, 157 Wn. App. 449, 453, 238 P.3d 1184 (2010). 

4 The Estate argues that Spice’s entire appeal fails because he only appealed the court’s CR 41 

ruling, and not the court’s ruling that his case was also dismissed under CR 50, and because he did 

not challenge the findings of fact that supported the court’s conclusions of law to dismiss his 

claims.  We disagree.  Spice appealed the October 23, 2020 findings of facts and conclusion of 

law in which the court dismissed his case under CR 41 and CR 50.  Regarding the fact that Spice 

did not challenge the court’s findings, we do not find this to be a persuasive reason to deny review. 
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When determining the scope of remand, the appellate court’s opinion “must be read in its entirety 

without any particular emphasis” to “ensure[] that the opinion is taken as a whole rather than 

selectively interpreted.”  Deep Water Brewing, LLC v. Fairway Res., Ltd., 170 Wn. App. 1, 9, 282 

P.3d 146 (2012).

B. Analysis

1. RAP 12.9(a)

The Estate argues that under RAP 12.9, a party can challenge a trial court’s alleged 

noncompliance by moving to recall the mandate or challenging the trial court on a second appeal, 

but not both.  Accordingly, the Estate reasons that because Spice moved to recall the mandates, he 

cannot now raise this issue on appeal.   

Without addressing whether RAP 12.9(a) bars review, we exercise our discretion to address 

the scope of remand as determined by the trial court. 

2. The Trial Court Properly Limited Spice’s Issues5

Spice argues that the court erred in interpreting this court’s previous opinions by limiting 

the waste issues to those specifically mentioned in the previous opinions.  We disagree. 

i. Spice II

In Spice II, the trial court had completely dismissed Spice’s claims.  Our opinions in Spice 

II and Spice III are clear that any waste related claim in Spice II that was remanded related only to 

water leakage.  See Spice, No. 48458-7-II, slip op. at 4; Spice, No. 50915-6-II, slip op. at 4 (“The 

waste related claims [in Spice II] described water leakage and resulting mold or rot in multiple 

5 In his reply brief, Spice raises challenges to specific evidentiary rulings the court made during 

the trial.  We decline to consider these arguments because an appellate court does not consider 

issues raised for the first time in a reply brief.  Ainsworth v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co, 180 Wn. 

App 52, 78 n.20, 322 P.3d 6 (2014). 
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properties.”).  To the extent Spice is now arguing that we erred either in Spice II or Spice III in 

determining the scope of his challenge in Spice II, the time to address those determinations has 

passed.  

Additionally, our description of Spice’s waste claim from Spice II comports with what he 

alleged in his complaint.  In his complaint, Spice made general allegations of waste, but then he 

narrowed the complaint by only describing the waste that came from the water damage.  Spice also 

explained that his waste claim was based on the acts and omissions “set forth above”—the only 

acts or omissions “set forth above” concerned the water leak—further confirming the waste claim 

from Spice II was confined to water leakage.6  CP at 798. 

Accordingly, the trial court’s determination that the issues for trial were limited to whether 

the Estate caused waste or breached a duty in regards to waste and what if any damages that 

occurred from the water damage from the pipe burst prior to April 3, 2014 does not unduly limit 

Spice’s claim from what we remanded in Spice II.  Rather, it appears the court expanded on what 

we remanded because we solely remanded on the breach of fiduciary duty by waste claim, not the 

independent waste claim.7 

6 We recognize that Spice referenced “11305 58th St. Ct. E.” in his complaint.  CP at 795.  But 

Spice was inconsistent below, prior to the appeal, about the buildings that had water damage.  

Furthermore, we note that the trial court revised its order to incorporate all the buildings that have 

been referenced as 11003 58th St. Ct. E., so as to include 11007 58th St. Ct. E., following Spice’s 

motion to reconsider that stated the water damage went beyond the one building solely referred to 

as 11003 58th St. Ct. E.; Spice’s motion to reconsider and reply noticeably omit any reference to 

11305 58th St. Ct. E.  Therefore, we cannot state the trial court erred in excluding the 11305 58th 

St. E. property, after Spice himself limited his water leakage breach by waste claim to the 

properties on 11003 58th St. Ct. E. 

7 Any remedy the Estate may have had with regard to the expansion of what was remanded passed 

when the Estate did not object or assign error to this ruling.  
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Therefore, the trial court in the most recent proceedings before us did not err in determining 

that the waste claim from Spice II was limited to the 2014 water leak. 

ii. Spice III

Furthermore, it is clear from Spice III that the extent of the waste claim on remand was 

limited to an unsigned check issued in 2017.  We noted, “Spice alleged continuing waste regarding 

property deficiencies and cited a specific incident to support his waste claim from August 2017.” 

Spice, No. 50915-6-II, slip op. at 18.  We also noted that dismissing Spice’s waste claim as a whole 

was not proper because he had submitted evidence that DuBois had failed to sign an insurance 

check and that prevented funds from being available to repair units; this evidence supported 

Spice’s waste claim that there was waste resulting in lost rents and property deficiencies.  But we 

identified no other issue within the Spice III waste claim that survived appeal. 

Therefore, the court did not err in determining that the breach by waste claim from Spice 

II was limited to the 2014 water leak and the waste claim from Spice III was limited to the failure 

to sign an insurance check for a fire in 2017. 

The trial court did not err in delineating Spice’s waste claims to two distinct issues. 

II. JURY DEMAND

Spice argues that the trial court erred in striking his jury demand because, Spice contends,

his remaining claims (waste, breach of a quasi-fiduciary duty, and fraudulent transfer) were “legal 

in nature.”  Br. of Appellant at 25-26.  We decline to consider this issue. 

B. Analysis

“Judicial estoppel precludes a party from ‘asserting one position in a court proceeding and 

later seeking an advantage by taking a clearly inconsistent position.’”  Serpanok Constr., Inc. v. 

Point Ruston, LLC, 19 Wn. App. 2d 237, 256, 495 P.3d 271 (2021) (quoting Miller v. Campbell, 
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164 Wn.2d 529, 539, 192 P.3d 352 (2008)), review denied, 199 Wn.2d 1006 (2022).  Judicial 

estoppel aims “‘to preserve respect for judicial proceedings and to avoid inconsistency, duplicity, 

and . . . waste of time.’”  Serpanok Const., 19 Wn. App. 2d at 256 (internal quotation marks 

omitted) (quoting Miller, 164 Wn.2d at 540).  Three factors determine whether judicial estoppel 

applies: “(1) whether the party’s later position is clearly inconsistent with its earlier position, (2) 

whether accepting the new position would create the perception that a court was misled, and (3) 

whether a party would gain an unfair advantage from the change.”  State v. Wilkins, 200 Wn. App. 

794, 803, 403 P.3d 890 (2017). 

Here, the first factor weighs in favor of estoppel.  Spice’s argument below relied on the 

arguments in his proposed amended complaint in which he claimed there were legal claims in 

addition to his equitable claims; the amendment was disallowed.  Spice included no argument 

regarding whether the three pending claims, waste, breach of a quasi-fiduciary duty, and fraudulent 

transfer, were legal in nature.  But on appeal, Spice asserts that the court erred in determining his 

three claims were equitable because all three claims are actually legal claims, even though his 

response below contained, at least, an implicit concession those claims were equitable.  Spice’s 

position on appeal is clearly inconsistent with his position below.  Additionally, the second factor 

weighs in favor of estoppel.  It appears the court was misled because it explained, “The parties 

agree . . . waste, fraudulent transfer, and breach of quasi-fiduciary duty in causing waste are 

equitable in nature.”  CP at 5116.  Finally, the third factor also weighs in favor of estoppel.  Spice 

would gain an unfair advantage from the change because it would allow Spice an entirely new 

trial, prejudicing the Estate by requiring it relitigate the claims—claims both parties and the trial 

court proceeded with under the auspices that they were equitable. 
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We hold that Spice is precluded from arguing on appeal that the court erred when it stated 

that his claims were equitable. 

III. REQUIRING DUBOIS TO TESTIFY

Spice argues that the court erred in relying on a technicality under CR 43(f)(1) when it

declined to force DuBois to testify.  Spice also contends that we must reverse because the court 

did not conduct a Burnet8 analysis prior to ruling Spice could not call DuBois as a witness.  We 

disagree.  

A. Legal Principles

Under CR 43(f)(1) a party may compel the managing agent of the opposing party to attend 

the trial “solely by notice (in lieu of a subpoena) given in the manner prescribed in rule 30(b)(1) 

to opposing counsel of record.”  The notices must be given not less than 10 days before the trial. 

CR 43(f)(1).  If the managing agent of the defendant refuses to attend and testify at trial, after 

notice was properly served, then the court may strike the answer and enter judgment against the 

defendant, and the managing agent may face proceedings as in other cases of contempt.  CR 

43(f)(3).   

“The notice shall state the time and place for taking the deposition and the name and 

address of each person to be examined, if known, and, if the name is not known, a general 

description sufficient to identify the deponent or the particular class or group to which the deponent 

belongs.”  CR 30(b)(1). 

8 Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 131 Wn.2d 484, 933 P.2d 1036 (1997). 
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B. Analysis

1. CR 43(f)(1)

Spice concedes he did not meet the technical requirements of CR 43(f)(1), but he contends 

he substantially complied with the rule by listing DuBois on his witness list.9  We disagree.  

“Substantial compliance ‘has been defined as actual compliance in respect to the substance 

essential to every reasonable objective of [a] statute.’”  Williamson, Inc. v. Calibre Homes, Inc., 

147 Wn.2d 394, 406, 54 P.3d 1186 (2002) (quoting In re Habeas Corpus of Santore, 28 Wn. App. 

319, 327, 623 P.2d 702 (1981)).  In cases of substantial compliance, there was actual compliance, 

albeit procedurally faulty.  Williamson, Inc., 147 Wn.2d at 406.  But the “failure to comply 

(through inaction, inadvertence, or in a manner which does not fulfill the objective of the statute), 

or belated compliance, cannot constitute substantial compliance.”  Clymer v. Emp. Sec. Dep’t, 82 

Wn. App. 25, 29, 917 P.2d 1091 (1996).  “‘Noncompliance with a statutory mandate is not 

substantial compliance.’”  Id. (quoting Petta v. Dep’t of Lab. & Indus., 68 Wn. App. 406, 407, 

409-10, 842 P.2d 1006 (1992)).

Here, it is impossible to establish substantial compliance because there was 

noncompliance.  See Clymer, 82 Wn. App. at 29.  Spice never even attempted to notify DuBois 

under CR 43.  Spice attempts to mitigate his noncompliance by arguing that the witness list should 

meet the requirements of CR 43(f).  But the witness list does not satisfy substantial compliance. 

A witness list merely serves to notify the other party who you may call to testify.  A witness list 

does not notify that witness that if they fail to attend the hearing there is the danger of being held 

9 Spice later walks this concession back in his reply brief, claiming he did comply with CR 43.  

But we do not consider arguments made for the first time in a reply brief.  Ainsworth, 180 Wn. 

App at 78 n.20.  Nor does Spice explain in his reply brief how he complied with CR 43. 
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in contempt; thus, it falls short of meeting the reasonable objective of the statute.  See Williamson, 

147 Wn.2d at 406.  Accordingly, the trial court did not err when it did not compel DuBois to testify. 

2. Burnet Analysis

Spice also argues that the court committed reversible error in not conducting a Burnet 

analysis prior to prohibiting Spice from calling DuBois.   

But there was no reason to consider the Burnet factors.  The Burnet factors are used when 

the court is considering exclusion of evidence after discovery violations and evidence that is 

untimely submitted in response to summary judgment.  Keck v. Collins, 184 Wn.2d 358, 368-69, 

357 P.3d 1080 (2015).  The trial court was not considering whether to exclude DuBois, but rather 

was considering whether it had the authority to compel DuBois to testify using the threat of 

judgment or finding her in contempt.  Burnet simply does not apply here.  

Spice also argues in passing that equitable estoppel should apply in his discussion on 

Burnet, but the exact nature of his argument is unclear.  To the extent that Spice is arguing that 

equitable estoppel is relevant to an analysis of the Burnet factors, his argument fails because, again, 

the Burnet factors do not apply here.  

To the extent Spice is arguing that equitable estoppel prohibits the Estate from objecting 

to a lack of notice, we are not persuaded.  Spice claims that the Estate agreed to have DuBois 

testify and if it had not agreed, then he would have provided formal notice as required.  But the 

supposed agreement that Spice identifies occurred during the trial, well past the deadline for giving 

notice under CR 43(f)(1).  This argument also fails.  

IV. MOTION TO CONTINUE

Spice argues that the trial court abused its discretion when it refused to continue the trial

so he would have sufficient time to prepare for trial.  We disagree. 
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A. Legal Principles

A court’s decision on a motion for continuance is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. 

Trummel v. Mitchell, 156 Wn.2d 653, 670, 131 P.3d 305 (2006).  A trial court may consider  

the necessity of reasonably prompt disposition of litigation; the needs of the moving 

party; the possible prejudice to the adverse party; the prior history of the litigation, 

including prior continuances granted the moving party; any conditions imposed in 

the continuances previously granted; and any other matters that have a material 

bearing upon the exercise of the discretion vested in the court.. 

Balandzich v. Demeroto, 10 Wn. App. 718, 720, 519 P.2d 994 (1974).  Courts may also consider 

the maintenance of orderly procedure and diligence.  State v. Downing, 151 Wn.2d 265, 273, 87 

P.3d 1169 (2004).

B. Analysis

Spice argues that there was insufficient time to prepare for trial, and he compares his case 

to Coggle v. Snow, 56 Wn. App. 499, 784 P.2d 554 (1990).  We disagree that Coggle is analogous. 

Coggle explained that the court’s primary consideration should have been justice and not 

a draconian application of time limits.  Id. at 508.  Additionally, a party should not be penalized 

for the “dilatory conduct” of their first lawyer.  Id.  

First, Spice fails to show that the court was imposing a draconian application of time limits 

or penalizing him for the “dilatory conduct” of his first, second, or third lawyer.  Our opinion on 

the 2017 claims was filed in October 2019 at which point Spice was aware of the claims at issue 

and could have started preparing for trial—a trial that was ultimately set for September 30, 2020. 

Additionally, there were multiple motions that Spice brought in the months leading up to trial that 

could have been prepared and filed much earlier in the proceeding.  Spice provides no explanation, 

nor does the record reflect, why he sat on his case for months, apparently waiting until the court 
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and the Estate attempted to move it forward.  He cannot now claim the court was draconian in 

holding the parties to the final trial date.  

Additionally, the record does not reflect that Spice’s first two attorneys withdrawing, 

leaving him with a new attorney to prepare for trial in three months, were outside his control. 

Spice’s first attorney explained that he had to withdraw because Spice did not want him 

representing Spice at trial.  Nor does it appear from the record that the withdrawal of the second 

attorney, Cunanan, was outside of Spice’s control.  Below Spice claimed that the workload became 

too much for Cunanan.  But it was Spice’s choice to have Cunanan represent Spice in at least four 

cases in addition to this case.  And it appears from Spice’s statements at trial that Cunanan left this 

case because another “case cropped up,” and according to Spice at the time of the trial, Cunanan 

was working on another case for Spice.  RP (Oct. 1, 2020) at 41.  

Furthermore, Spice was well aware that the remaining attorney, Styles, was never supposed 

to be Spice’s primary attorney and that he did not have the necessary expertise.  Despite this, Spice 

chose to hire Styles, and then chose to retain Styles as the primary attorney.  The record does not 

reflect that this is a matter of the court penalizing a client for their lawyer’s conduct or applying 

draconian time limits, but rather it appears to be a result of Spice’s choices over nearly a year 

between our Spice III opinion and his trial.  

Nor is there any other indication that the trial court’s primary concern was not justice or 

that it abused its discretion when it denied Spice’s motion to continue on the first day of trial.  The 

trial court considered how long the overall proceeding had been pending, how it had been almost 

a year since the 2017 claims had been remanded, the toll litigation takes on the parties, and that 

the pending suit prevented the parties from moving forward with the property and other 

proceedings.  The court also questioned the length of time it would actually take to return to trial 
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if the trial was continued for Spice to bring on another lawyer.10   The court did not abuse its 

discretion in denying Spice’s motion to continue.  

V. ATTORNEY FEES BELOW

Spice argues that, even if we affirm, the court erred in awarding attorney fees to the Estate

because the trial court erroneously determined his claims were frivolous, misapprehended the 

source of his claims, and failed to independently evaluate the reasonableness of the fees.  We agree 

the court erred and remand for the court to reconsider its award of attorney fees. 

A. Frivolity

Spice argues that the court erred in awarding fees under CR 11, RCW 64.12.020, and RCW 

4.24.630 because his claims were not frivolous under CR 11 because they had survived appeal and 

he had not made a claim under either of those statutes.   

CR 11 provides for attorney fees as a sanction for baseless filings.  A filing is baseless if it 

is “(a) not well grounded in fact, or (b) not warranted by (i) existing law or (ii) a good faith 

argument for the alteration of existing law.”  Hicks v. Edwards, 75 Wn. App. 156, 163, 876 P.2d 

953 (1994).  A trial court may not impose CR 11 sanctions for a baseless filing “unless it also finds 

that the attorney who signed and filed the [pleading, motion, or legal memorandum] failed to 

conduct a reasonable inquiry into the factual and legal basis of the claim.”  Bryant v. Joseph Tree, 

Inc., 119 Wn.2d 210, 220, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992).  The court must use an objective standard, 

inquiring “whether a reasonable attorney in like circumstances could believe his or her actions to 

be factually and legally justified.”  Id.  “To avoid being swayed by the benefit of hindsight, the 

trial court should impose sanctions only when it is ‘patently clear that a claim has absolutely no 

10 We note that Spice also assigns error to an order declining to continue the trial in September, 

but we decline to consider that argument because Spice’s argument focuses on the motion made 

the first day of trial.  RAP 10.3. 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1003982&cite=WARSUPERCTCIVCR11&originatingDoc=Ic9e9e8c1f57c11d983e7e9deff98dc6f&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&ppcid=d27e5bd48b25485aae2331e81657ba02&contextData=(sc.Search)
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chance of success.’”  MacDonald v. Korum Ford, 80 Wn. App. 877, 884, 912 P.2d 1052 (1996) 

(quoting Oliveri v. Thompson, 803 F.2d 1265, 1275 (2d Cir. 1986)); Bryant, 119 Wn.2d at 220. 

Here, we disagree with the trial court that the claims had absolutely no chance of success.  

But more importantly, the trial court did not analyze whether Spice’s counsel failed to conduct a 

reasonable inquiry into the factual and legal basis for the claims.  Accordingly, the trial court erred 

in basing part of its reasoning on CR 11.    

In light of our conclusion that Spice’s claims were not frivolous, we remand to the trial 

court to determine whether it desires to nonetheless award attorney fees under RCW 64.12.020 or 

RCW 11.96A.150.     

B. Independent Review

Spice argues that the trial court erred in accepting the Estate’s request without questioning 

any of the fees, as evidenced by it accepting fees that a previous trial court had already ruled were 

unreasonable or disallowed.  We agree. 

We review “the amount of an attorney fee award for abuse of discretion.”  Singh v. Zurich 

Am. Ins. Co., 5 Wn. App. 2d 739, 760, 428 P.3d 1237 (2018).  “‘Courts must take an active role in 

assessing the reasonableness of fee awards, rather than treating cost decisions as a litigation 

afterthought.  Courts should not simply accept unquestioningly fee affidavits from counsel.’”  Id. 

at 760-61 (quoting Mahler v. Szucs, 135 Wn.2d 398, 434-35, 957 P.2d 632, 966 P.2d 305 (1998)).  

Moreover, when a trial court awards attorney fees, it must articulate the grounds on which it is 

basing its decision, thereby creating a record sufficient to permit this court to conduct a meaningful 

review.  Brand v. Dep’t of Lab. & Indus., 139 Wn.2d 659, 674, 989 P.2d 1111 (1999).  This means 

that the trial court “must supply findings of fact and conclusions of law sufficient to permit a 

reviewing court to determine why the trial court awarded the amount in question.”  SentinelC3, 
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Inc. v. Hunt, 181 Wn.2d 127, 144, 331 P.3d 40 (2014).  The findings must show that the trial court 

did more than unquestioningly accept counsel’s fee affidavit.  See Berryman v. Metcalf, 177 Wn. 

App. 644, 658, 312 P.3d 745 (2013).   

Here the record is insufficient to allow us to conduct a meaningful review.  There is no 

indication the court took an active role in assessing the request for attorney fees.  The court 

awarded the precise amount of fees that the Estate requested at the hearing on attorney fees.  The 

trial court did not address any of the fees requested or objected to at the hearing; instead, it told 

the parties it would “take a little closer look” and then send a copy of its order.  RP (Oct. 23, 2020) 

at 9.  Similarly, the written findings and conclusions do not indicate the court actively reviewed 

the award requested because the trial court failed to make any alterations to the findings and 

conclusions that the Estate submitted.  Instead, the record reflects that the trial court accepted the 

fee affidavit unquestioningly.  Accordingly, we remand for the trial court to reconsider the amount 

of attorney fees, should it determine fees are appropriate.  This is not to say that the trial court 

cannot award the same amount again, merely that the record must reflect that the trial court actively 

considered the fees requested.11 

ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL 

Both Spice and the Estate request attorney fees on appeal under RCW 11.96A.150. 

We decline to award fees to either party.  RAP 18.1 “requires more than a bald request for 

attorney fees on appeal; the party must include argument and citation to authority.”  City of Seattle 

v. 2009 Cadillac CTS, 2 Wn. App. 2d 44, 54, 409 P.3d 1121 (2017) (emphasis added).  Spice only

11 Spice also requests that on remand to retry his claims, his case should be assigned to a new judge 

because the court has already ruled his claims were frivolous, indicating the court would not be 

able to set aside its previous ruling on remand.  Because we are remanding only for the attorney 

fees issue, we decline to consider this argument. 
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provides argument regarding the trial court’s framing of the issues and its failure to compel DuBois 

to testify.  Both of these underlying arguments are unpersuasive; these unsuccessful claims are not 

a basis for attorney fees.  The Estate, on the other hand, merely cites to legal authority with no 

argument as to why it should be awarded fees. 

CONCLUSION 

We conclude that the court did not err in interpreting the previous two appeals. 

Furthermore, we decline to consider whether the court erred in striking Spice’s jury demand.  We 

conclude the court did not err in declining to compel DuBois to testify or denying Spice’s motion 

to continue.  Additionally, we conclude that the trial court erred in its attorney fee award.  Finally, 

we decline to award any attorney fees on appeal. 

In sum, we affirm in part, reverse in part, and remand solely for the trial court to reconsider 

the award for attorney fees. 

A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, 

it is so ordered. 

Veljacic, J. 

We concur: 

Maxa, J. 

Glasgow, C.J. 
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Respondents. 

Respondents move this court to correct its August 2, 2022 opinion.  After consideration, 

we grant respondents’ motion and correct the Scrivener’s error.  The first sentence of the first full 

paragraph on page 2 that reads, “First, we conclude that the trial court did err by confining Spice’s 

claims,”  is amended to read: “First, we conclude that the trial court did not err by confining Spice’s 

claims.”  It is 

SO ORDERED. 

Panel: Jj. Maxa, Glasgow, Veljacic 

Veljacic, J. 

We concur: 

Maxa, J. 

Filed 

Washington State 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION II 

TED SPICE, an individual; PAVEL PASYUK, 
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Appellants, 
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DORIS ELAINE MATHEWS LIVING 
TRUST, a Washington trust, 

ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR 
RECONSIDERATION AND MOTION 

FOR PUBLICATION 

Respondents, 

Appellant, Ted Spice, moves this court to reconsider its August 2, 2022 opinion.  He further 

moves this court to publish said opinion.  Respondents filed a response to Appellant’s motion for 

reconsideration.  After consideration, we deny Appellant’s motion for reconsideration and his 

motion for publication.  It is 

SO ORDERED. 

Panel: Jj. Maxa, Glasgow, Veljacic. 

FOR THE COURT: 

Veljacic, J. 

App. C



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION II 

TED SPICE, an individual; PAVEL PASYUK, 
and individual, and PLEXUS INVESTMENTS, 
LLC, a Washington limited liability company, 

No.  55314-7-II 

Appellants, 

v. 

ESTATE OF DORIS MATHEWS, a 
Washington estate; DONNA DUBOIS, as 
personal representative of the estate, MARK 
DUBOIS, a purported agent of the estate, 
DORIS ELAINE MATHEWS LIVING 
TRUST, a Washington trust, 

ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR 
RECONSIDERATION 

Respondents, 

Respondents move this court to reconsider its decision regarding attorney fees in its August 

2, 2022 unpublished opinion.  After consideration, we deny the motion.  It is 

SO ORDERED. 

Panel: Jj. Maxa, Glasgow, Veljacic. 

FOR THE COURT: 

Veljacic, J. 

App. D
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